ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Edgefield County
Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 21 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

EDWARD TERRELL CHANDLER

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001554

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In denying Appellant's motion for self-representation, did the judge err as a matter of law by requiring Appellant demonstrate a heightened level of competency in order to waive his right to counsel, and in reliance upon this legal error, did the judge improperly force Appellant to choose between his right to self-representation and his right to a speedy trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 6, 2016, an Edgefield County grand jury indicted Appellant for burglary in the first degree (2016-GS-19-378), strong arm robbery (2016-GS-19-381), kidnapping (2016-GS-19-382), and criminal sexual conduct in the first degree (2016-GS-19-383). R. 744-745; R. 747-748; R. 750-751; R. 753-754. On July 14, 2016, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., moving to relieve counsel and proceed *pro se*. R. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, it was determined that defense counsel would remain as Appellant's attorney for the trial starting the following week. R. 24, ll. 12-23. On July 18-22, 2016, the state, represented by Suzanne Mayes and Sutania Radlein, called the case to trial before Judge Griffith and a jury. R. 26. Erik Drylie and J. Walter Whitmire represented Appellant. R. 26.

During the course of the trial, Appellant again moved to relieve counsel and represent himself. R. 393, l. 11 – R. 395, l. 21. At the conclusion of an extended colloquy, the judge denied Appellant's motion to waive his right counsel. R. 404, ll. 5-11; R. 419, ll. 12-16. After several other witnesses testified, Appellant requested yet again to represent himself. R. 480, l. 20 – R. 481, l. 16. After a brief colloquy, the judge granted the motion, relieving counsel and allowing Appellant to proceed *pro se*. R. 487, ll. 15-16.

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 722, ll. 4-15. Judge Griffith sentenced Appellant to sixty years' imprisonment for burglary, thirty years' imprisonment for kidnapping and criminal sexual conduct, and fifteen years' imprisonment for strong arm robbery. R. 731, ll. 9-13; R. 746; R. 749; R. 752; R. 755.

On July 22, 2016, Appellant, through stand-by counsel, served his notice of appeal on opposing counsel. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

In denying Appellant's motion for self-representation, the judge erred as a matter of law by requiring Appellant demonstrate a heightened level of competency in order to waive his right to counsel, and, in reliance upon this legal error, the judge improperly forced Appellant to choose between his right to self-representation and his right to a speedy trial.

Relevant facts

Week before Trial – Motion to Waive Right to Counsel

On July 14, 2016, Appellant appeared before Judge Griffith requesting that his public defender be relieved and that he be allowed to represent himself. R. 1. The state “anticipated” calling the case for trial the following week. R. 4, ll. 8-9. During the forty-eight hours immediately preceding the hearing on July 14, 2016, the state “received a written notice” from Appellant of his desire to relieve counsel. R. 4, ll. 9-11. Appellant wanted to “proceed pro se.” R. 4, ll. 14-15.

The prosecutor explained she had “a lot of concerns about this situation at this stage” because the state was “less than a week away from his anticipated trial date.” R. 4, ll. 15-18. Additionally, the prosecutor provided the court with a copy of the written report of Appellant’s mental health evaluation from September 24, 2015. R. 4, ll. 18-23; R. 733-742. Defense counsel confirmed Appellant’s desire for self-representation, and noted that Appellant had been found competent by the Department of Mental Health (DMH). R. 5, ll. 7-12. Defense counsel had explained the dangers of self-representation, but Appellant was “quite adamant” that he wanted to proceed *pro se*. R. 5, ll. 12-16.

Judge Griffith then engaged personally with Appellant to inquire into his desire for self-representation – to waive his right to counsel. R. 8, ll. 6-8. Appellant told the judge he was

twenty-eight years old and had completed 1.5 years of college. R. 12, ll. 9-13. Additionally, Appellant had “been through a previous general sessions trial.” R. 12, ll. 15-18. Appellant was unequivocal that his request to relieve counsel was not for purposes of delay and that he would be prepared for trial on the following Monday, the date the state planned to call the case. R. 14, l. 1 – R. 15, l. 5.

Then, the state expressed its concerns about Appellant’s mental health. According to the state, the mental evaluation report indicated Appellant had a history of mental health issues, including in-patient treatment. R. 15, ll. 11-19. The state complained it did not have access to those records. R. 15, ll. 19-21. According to the state “those records would need to be accessed” in order for the court to determine if Appellant could represent himself. R. 16, ll. 3-4. A court order would be required in order for the state to gain access to those records. R. 16, ll. 4-5. Finally, the state complained that the doctor who conducted the evaluation in 2015 was no longer employed by the Department of Mental Health and the state had been unable to serve her with a subpoena. R. 16, ll. 8-13. Although the state recognized that DMH “found [Appellant] competent,” the state demanded “a full Blair¹” hearing “on the record to ensure that her findings back in September of 2015 would still be her findings today, and she would also need to conduct an orientation assessment to ensure his mental status has not changed.” R. 16, ll. 14-19. In the state’s opinion, “this” could not be “achieved by Monday or even Tuesday.” R. 16, ll. 20-21. The next term of Court in Edgefield was October 10, 2016. R. 17, ll. 13-14.² The state proposed

¹ State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981).

² The judge noted, and the state agreed, that the same judge would be presiding over both terms of court; therefore, it was clear that Appellant was “not judge-shopping.” R. 17, ll. 15-17.

setting aside a full day for “full Blair hearing” and “a full Faretta³ hearing with the advantage of all of his mental health records and history.” R. 17, ll. 17-25.

The judge then turned to Appellant, asking what he thought of the state’s suggestion to move the case to the next term of court.

[W]hat do you think about that? You see what she’s saying? She’s not telling you no, but let’s get all of the pieces up, have you - - the examiner who provided this come back and talk to you again, make certain you’re still in good shape. You appear to be today to me, just by looking at you, but since it was over a year ago, kind of updating that, giving you a chance to fully appreciate what you’re asking the Court to do.

R. 18, ll. 1-10. Appellant explained he had been in pre-trial detention for seventeen months with no bond set. R. 18, ll. 11-12. Appellant asked “to not be sitting.” R. 19, l. 3. He had “been sitting a very long time” and he wanted to go to trial. R. 19, ll. 6-7.

The judge explained the he was considering the “parameters of the Faretta case,” which outlined when a person “is competent enough to represent themselves. Because if somebody were not competent, not educated, couldn’t appreciate all of the dangers of the trial, then the Court has to make an independent decision and evaluation of whether or not that would be appropriate.” R. 20, ll. 1-8. The judge stated he was “kind of inclined to get all of these pieces lined up for October.” He then presented Appellant with a choice: “You can let [defense counsel] go forward and we’ll start Monday” or “[i]f you want to represent yourself, that’s your request. If you want to do that, I would be much more comfortable in protecting your rights that we get these things done and start this trial in October.” R. 20, ll. 12-25. He then put it very succinctly – if Appellant wanted to go trial the next week in July, he had “to withdraw” his motion for self-representation and allow defense counsel to represent him. R. 20, ll. 3-5.

³ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 (1975).

Appellant explained that if he withdrew his motion for self-representation, then he would “need to be certain” that defense counsel employed his strategy. R. 21, ll. 7-13. Appellant was clear that if defense counsel refused to use his strategy, then Appellant could not “let him represent” Appellant. R. 21, ll. 15-16.

The judge ordered a break in the proceedings to allow Appellant and trial counsel to discuss the matter to determine if “some understanding” could be reached. R. 22, ll. 6-7; Pre-trial 23, ll. 2-20. After a thirty minute break, the parties reconvened. R. 24, l. 2. Defense counsel announced that Appellant wanted to go to trial on Monday with defense counsel representing him. R. 24, ll. 12-13. The state requested Appellant “formally withdraw[]” his motion to relieve counsel and proceed *pro se*. R. 24, ll. 15-17. Appellant then withdrew his motion. R. 24, ll. 18-21.

Trial – Motions for Self-Representation

The trial started on July 18, 2016, with trial counsel representing Appellant. R. 26. After the testimony of the state’s twelfth witness, Appellant moved to relieve counsel again. R. 393, ll. 11-17. Appellant explained his lawyers would “not do anything” he asked. R. 393, ll. 11-17. Further, Appellant told the judge that there were witnesses he wanted called and evidence he wanted introduced, but that counsel had told him they were “not going to use it.” R. 393, ll. 19-21; see also, R. 394, ll. 13-22. Specifically, Appellant wanted the lead investigator called as a witness in the case because “of all the contradictions,” but defense counsel informed Appellant they would not call him to testify. R. 393, ll. 21-23. Also, Appellant informed the judge that he and defense counsel had planned for Appellant to testify “for months,” but during the trial defense counsel stated he did not “want” Appellant “to testify.” R. 394, ll. 5-7.

Appellant reminded the judge that when he moved to relieve trial counsel the week prior to trial, he was convinced to permit trial counsel to represent him based on (1) the judge's insistence that the trial be moved to October if trial counsel were relieved and (2) Appellant's reliance on trial counsel's assurances that he would follow Appellant's strategy. R. 395, ll. 9-13; R. 399, ll. 8-15; R. 405, ll. 5-8. Appellant told the judge that he would represent himself and that he could not let his life "go down the drain like that." R. 395, ll. 19-21.

The judge proposed moving forward "with the state's witness this afternoon" and see "where" the parties got during the afternoon. R. 397, ll. 6-13. Appellant explained the parties were "not going to get anywhere" because trial counsel was "not going to do what" Appellant requested. R. 397, ll. 14-16. The judge insisted on moving forward that afternoon, but told Appellant he would address his request the following day. R. 398, l. 20 – R. 399, l. 1.

Everyone then convened in chambers. R. 399, ll. 16-24. Trial counsel informed the judge that Appellant wanted medical personnel cross-examined regarding prior inconsistent statements made by the alleged victim. R. 400, ll. 9-16. The judge then told Appellant that such questions risked opening the door to testimony that trial counsel successfully excluded. R. 400, l. 16 – R. 401, l. 19. The judge then told Appellant that it was his understanding from "the case law" that he could *not* permit Appellant to represent himself "midstream." R. 401, ll. 19-21; R. 402, ll. 5-9; R. 407, ll. 7-11. According to the judge, "once a jury is sworn, you got to stick with what you got." R. 402, ll. 2-4. The judge then denied Appellant's request for self-representation. R. 404, ll. 5-11. He further instructed Appellant and his lawyers to meet after the day's proceedings to resolve the conflict among them. R. 404, ll. 17-20; R. 405, ll. 9-14.⁴

⁴ The judge explained the direct appeal process and the post-conviction relief procedures during the in-chambers meeting with Appellant. R. 406, l. 20-25; R. 409, l. 6 – R. 410, l. 11.

Appellant went through various items of discovery and his notes from the trial testimony, explaining what questions he believed trial counsel should have asked, but failed to do so. R. 413, l. 25 – R. 417, l. 11. Judge Griffith told Appellant that one of the problems for his team was that the alleged victim seemed “to be a likable lady,” “honest,” and “a responsible citizen.” R. 417, ll. 22-25. It was “hard to make her out to be a liar by saying she changed her story a little bit in the middle of the morning when something happened to her that was traumatic.” R. 417, l. 25 – R. 418, l. 3. He noted that the change in her story was justifiable due to adrenaline: “when your adrenaline gets going and you playing ball or something and you get popped good, you don’t feel it. You just all juiced up.” R. 418, ll. 4-7.

The judge instructed Appellant to talk to his lawyers overnight, and that if counsel still refused to “delve into” cross examination or call a witness, then the judge would hold another hearing. R. 411, ll. 1-7; R. 418, l. 24 – R. 419, l. 8. The judge said the parties could reconvene after the state rested regarding Appellant’s desire to call witnesses. R. 419, ll. 12-15; R. 421, ll. 4-13.

The next day Appellant moved to relieve counsel and proceed *pro se*. R. 480, ll. 14-15. He explained he met with defense counsel as the judge instructed, and that counsel refused to ask the questions he requested or call the witnesses he wanted. R. 480, ll. 20 – R. 481, l. 2; R. 481, ll. 5-16. Again, Appellant explained that he only agreed to withdraw his initial motion for self-representation because trial counsel promised he would follow Appellant’s instructions. R. 481, ll. 2-5. Appellant told the judge he wanted to call several witnesses, including members of his family and law enforcement to testify. R. 481, l. 22 – R. 482, l. 24.

The judge then engaged in a colloquy with Appellant, explaining the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, including the need to preserve issues for appeal, the

inability to file an application for post-conviction relief for ineffective assistance of counsel regarding any matters missed by Appellant, and the difficulties of testifying in a *pro se* scenario. R. 483, l. 9 – R. 484, l. 17. During the colloquy, Appellant expressed his unequivocal desire for self-representation. R. 484, ll. 18-19.

At this point, the state reiterated its concern regarding Appellant's mental health. R. 486, ll. 4-10. The state noted Appellant was found competent by DMH. R. 486, ll. 4-10. The judge explained he found Appellant "to be respectful and calm and ... well-spoken." R. 486, ll. 11-14. He also noted Appellant had asserted his right previously, but the court had discouraged him from self-representation and encouraged him to work with counsel. R. 486, ll. 14-16. The judge then allowed Appellant to represent himself. R. 487, ll. 15-24. He found Appellant had "sufficient education" and had been involved with a trial previously. R. 487, ll. 15-24. Additionally, the judge noted Appellant was aware "of the nature of the charges" and the penalties. R. 488, ll. 1-5. Both the judge and trial counsel had explained "the dangers of self-representation" and cautioned Appellant he would have to follow the rules of procedure. R. 488, ll. 5-9. Importantly, the judge was convinced Appellant's request was not for purposes of delay. R. 488, ll. 9-12. Therefore, the judge relieved defense counsel and permitted Appellant to represent himself for the remainder of the trial. R. 488, ll. 20-21.

Discussion

A criminal defendant "has the constitutional right to represent himself under both the federal and state constitutions." State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014)(citing State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604 (2010)). "The Sixth Amendment does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense." Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 (1975). "The right to defend is given directly to

the accused; for it is he who suffers the consequences if the defense fails.” Id. at 819-20. “To thrust counsel upon the accused, against his considered wish, thus violates the logic of the Amendment.” Id. at 820.

The right of self-representation “must be preserved even if the court believes that the defendant will benefit from the advice of counsel.” State v. Fuller, 337 S.C. 236, 241, 523 S.E.2d 168, 170 (1999). In fact, even if the decision to proceed *pro se* is to the defendant’s detriment, the decision “must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834; see also State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 119, 492 S.E.2d 97, 98 (1997). According to the South Carolina Supreme Court, “[a] defendant’s right to waive the assistance of counsel is not unlimited,” however. Fuller, 337 S.C. at 241, 523 S.E.2d at 170. A defendant must request to waive counsel “clearly” and “prior to trial.” Id. “So long as the defendant makes his request prior to trial, the only proper inquiry is that mandated by Faretta.” Barnes, 407 S.C. at 35, 753 S.E.2d at 550 (citing State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 698 S.E.2d 596 (2010)).⁵

Timely Request

Appellant made his request the week prior to the start of trial. Therefore, Appellant’s request was timely. See Fuller, 337 S.C. 236, 241, 523 S.E.2d 168, 170 (1999)(declining “to hold that a motion to proceed *pro se* made on the day of trial, but before the commencement of trial proceedings, is either timely or untimely as a matter of law” and recognizing the “variety of reasons which might excuse a last minute request by a defendant to proceed *pro se*”). See also State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 698 S.E.2d 596 (2010)(discussing the timeliness of a request for self-representation in the context of a capital trial). Additionally, just as in Fuller, Appellant’s request

⁵ No prejudice inquiry or harmless error analysis may be conducted because the erroneous denial of a Faretta request is a structural error. State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 37, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550-51 (2014). See also McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168 (1984).

to proceed *pro se* “was made in an atmosphere of his escalating dissatisfaction with his attorney” and Appellant “complained to the trial court that his counsel had been ineffective in preparing for trial.” See Fuller, 337 S.C. at 242, 523 S.E.2d at 171. As the trial judge found, Appellant’s “purpose in making the request was not to delay or stall the proceedings, but rather to address his growing concerns about his attorney.” See id.

Competency to Waive Right to Counsel

The United States Supreme Court confronted the competency standard to waive the right to counsel in Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389 (1993). The Court held the competency standard for pleading guilty or waiving the right to counsel was the same as the competency standard for standing trial. Id. at 391. The Court explained “that the standard for competency to stand trial is whether the defendant has ‘sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding’ and has ‘a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him.’” Id. at 396 (quoting Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960)). The Court specifically rejected imposing a higher standard of competency for waiving the right to counsel or entering a guilty plea than the standard of competency required of a defendant to stand trial. Id. at 397-398. According to the Court, there was “no reason to believe that the decision to waive counsel requires an appreciably higher level of mental functioning than the decision to waive other constitutional rights.” Id. at 399. The Court was emphatic there was “not a heightened standard of *competence*” required to waive the right to counsel. Id. at 401 (emphasis in original). However, in Godinez, which foreshadowed a future decision, the Court provided that states were “free to adopt competency standards” “more elaborate than the Dusky formulation,” but explained the Due Process Clause did not impose additional requirements. Id. at 402.

Over a decade later, the United States Supreme Court re-visited the issue of competency to waive counsel in Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164 (2008), and addressed the issue even more squarely. Specifically, the Court examined “whether the Constitution permits a State to limit [a] defendant’s self-representation right by insisting upon representation by counsel at trial – on the ground that the defendant lacks the mental capacity to conduct his trial defense unless represented.” Id. at 174. In addressing that specific question, the Court held “the Constitution permits States to insist upon representation by counsel for those competent enough to stand trial under Dusky but who still suffer from severe mental illness to the point where they are not competent to conduct trial proceedings by themselves.” Id. at 178.

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