ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Edgefield County  
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
DEC 08 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

EDWARD TERRELL CHANDLER

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-001554

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Lexington County Judicial Center  
205 East Main Street  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 359-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The trial court advised Chandler as follows:

And that's . . . considering, you know, that you, just the day before yesterday, asked to have Mr. Driley set aside, I'm kind of inclined to get all these pieces lined up for October. So here's your choice: You can let Mr. Driley go forward and we'll start Monday . . .

If you want to represent yourself, that's your request. If you want to do that, **I would be much more comfortable in protecting your rights** that we get these things done and start this trial in October.

R. p. 20, lines 9-25. The trial court then let Chandler speak with his attorney some more. R. pp. 22-24. When resuming the proceeding, the public defender indicated that Chandler wanted to proceed to trial the next week with the public defender continuing to represent Chandler. Chandler confirmed this when he indicated he was withdrawing his motion to represent himself. R. p. 24.

Four days later, the trial began. A jury was selected and the trial court heard several motions before recessing for the day. The next day the trial resumed. The trial court dealt with a juror issue. Then he made his opening remarks to the jury. The State and co-counsel for Chandler made their opening arguments. Over the next two days, the State called twelve witnesses: the 911 operator, two

---

<sup>1</sup> See State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981).

of Victim's sons, Victim, Victim's neighbor, the convenience store owner, two Edgefield Sheriff's deputies, the EMS responder, the Edgefield crime scene investigator, the latent print examiner, and the SANE nurse, before Chandler started complaining about his attorney. R. pp. 40-392.

It was only at this point during trial that Chandler asked to represent himself. This was the third day of trial, counting jury selection, and occurred when court resumed following a lunch recess. R. p. 393. Chandler complained that his attorneys were not doing anything he told them to do. He wanted the trial court to look at some papers. He complained that his defense attorneys were not going to call Investigator Smith, which Chandler thought was important because he was the lead investigator who "made all of these mistakes and they are trying to hide it." R. pp. 393-94 (direct quote, p. 394, lines 1-2). Chandler claimed, "Your Honor, they are working together. I will be honest with you and I cannot let that happen. They are working together, him and the Solicitor, they are." R. p. 394, lines 1-5. Chandler also let the trial court know that he was scared. R. p. 394, line 9.

Chandler complained that his attorneys were recommending he not testify and did not want to call any witnesses. R. pp. 394-95. He claimed his attorney "has not cross-examined anybody. He cross-examined one person and it really don't matter." R. p. 395, lines 13-17. Actually, at that point in the trial, defense counsel examined nine of the State's twelve witnesses, asking a total of 188 questions. Chandler pleaded he needed somebody else to represent him or he needed to represent himself. R. p. 395, lines 17-21.

Chandler's public defender explained, "Judge, we just went and talked about possible scenarios that could play out and possible options that we could have and some ways in which I'm leaning on those options." R. p. 396, lines 10-13. He further elaborated, "And that's based largely

on my experience of having tried a number of cases now and there's really, whatever decision you make, there's risk and there's reward. . . . And sometimes the reward is pretty minimal and the risk is pretty great." R. p. 396, lines 10-18.

Following Chandler's further remonstrations, the trial court found it prudent to move the discussion to the judge's chambers before Chandler said something in open court against his interests. The trial court initially advised Chandler that he could not dismiss his attorneys after the trial began. R. pp. 399-402.

The trial court offered a parable about a defendant who represented himself and did fairly well until he failed to understand the trial court's rulings and "got aggravated with me and he got real loud and belligerent and started waving his arms and raised his voice and I warned him." R. p. 403, lines 9-15. Chandler replied "Sorry about that." R. p. 403, line 16. At that time, the trial court denied Chandler's motion to represent himself and warned him the jury is watching everything he does and his body language. R. pp. 404-05. The prosecutors left the chambers so the trial court could speak with Chandler about the specific things he felt the defense attorneys should be doing. R. pp. 413-20.

The trial resumed and testimony was taken from two more witnesses – a serologist and forensic DNA analyst. The serologist found pre-ejaculate on the oral swab. R. pp. 434-35. The DNA analyst testified she could not develop a DNA profile from the swab. R. p. 448.

Then Chandler moved to represent himself. R. p. 480. Chandler explained he wanted to call or recall a total of eight witnesses. R. p. 482. He was allowed to represent himself after the trial court gave extensive instructions about the dangers of self-representation. R. pp. 480-87.

Chandler took over representation, handling the State's last two witnesses. He was able to call all eight witnesses he previously requested and testified himself, as he had wanted. Tr. pp. 541-712. Chandler made his own closing argument. R. pp. 673-99.

A defendant may waive his right to counsel and proceed pro se. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975); State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 586, 698 S.E.2d 596, 602 (2010). "The request to proceed pro se must be clearly asserted by the defendant prior to trial." Winkler (quoting Farretta). "Because an exercise of the right of self-representation necessarily entails a waiver of the right to counsel – a defendant obviously cannot enjoy both rights at trial – the exercise of the right of self-representation must be evaluated by using many of the same criteria that are applied to determine whether a defendant has waived the right to counsel." United States v. Frazier-El, 204 F.3d 553, 558 (4th Cir. 2000). Under Frazier-El, in order for a defendant to conduct his own defense, the court **must be certain** that the defendant's choice is (1) clear and unequivocal, (2) knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made, and (3) is timely. Id.

"The requirement that the assertion be clear and unequivocal 'is necessary to protect against an inadvertent waiver of the right to counsel by a defendant's occasional musings,' and it also 'prevents a defendant from taking advantage of and manipulating the mutual exclusivity of the rights to counsel and self-representation.'" United States v. Bush, 404 F.3d 263, 271 (4th Cir. 2005) (quoting Frazier-El, 204 F.3d at 558-59). "This protection against an inadvertent waiver of the right to counsel is especially important because representation by counsel does not merely tend to ensure justice for the individual criminal defendant, it marks the process as fair and legitimate, sustaining public confidence in the system and in the rule of law." Frazier-El, at 559 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

“[T]he right to self-representation and the right to representation by counsel, while independent, are essentially inverse aspects of the Sixth Amendment and thus that assertion of one constitutes a de facto waiver of the other.” United States v. Singleton, 107 F.3d 1091, 1096 (4th Cir. 1997) (citations omitted). “In ambiguous situations created by a defendant’s vacillation or manipulation, we must ascribe a ‘constitutional primacy’ to the right to counsel because this right serves both the individual and collective good, as opposed to only the individual interests served by protecting the right of self-representation.” Frazier-El, at 559.

“At bottom, the Faretta right to self-representation is not absolute, and the government’s interest in ensuring the integrity and efficiency of the trial at times outweighs the defendant’s interest in acting as his own lawyer.” Id. (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). A request for self-representation must “generally must be asserted before meaningful trial proceedings have begun.” United States v. Hilton, 701 F.3d 959, 965 (4th Cir. 2012). Thereafter, a defendant’s request for self-representation is a matter submitted to the sound discretion of the trial court. Id.

“[I]nvocation [of the right to self-representation] does not set into motion rigid, mechanical procedures that must be followed to the letter to avoid an error. The invocation of the right and whether the proper procedures were followed must be evaluated in the context of a given case.” Swan v. Commonwealth, 384 S.W.3d 77, 94-95 (Ky. 2012). “[W]hile the right is a structural right, it must still be applied in the real world, which sometimes requires a practical approach, not an absolute and unbending one.” Id. at 95.

Chandler argues the trial court erred because it was holding Chandler to a higher standard of competency, citing State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 753 S.E.2d 545 (2014). Chandler simply misconstrues the record. The trial court did not make a determination pre-trial whether Chandler

could knowingly waive his right to counsel, instead, the trial court indicated it was not prepared to grant the motion on the eve of trial. To the extent the trial court was considering ordering a mental evaluation, it was merely preparing to seek more information before considering the request for self-representation. Chandler had a mental health history and the last mental evaluation was a year prior to trial. This information, whether or not dispositive in a ruling on self-representation, nonetheless was important in determining whether or not Chandler would be making a knowing and voluntary waiver. Chandler cites the ten factor test used to determine if the accused had sufficient background to understand the disadvantages of self-representation:

- (1) the accused's age, educational background, and physical **and mental health**;
- (2) whether the accused was previously involved in criminal trials;
- (3) whether he knew of the nature of the charge and of the possible penalties;
- (4) whether he was represented by counsel before trial and whether an attorney indicated to him the difficulty of self-representation in his particular case;
- (5) whether he was attempting to delay or manipulate the proceedings;
- (6) whether the court appointed stand-by counsel;
- (7) whether the accused knew he would be required to comply with the rules of procedure at trial;
- (8) whether he knew of legal challenges he could raise in defense to the charges against him;
- (9) whether the exchange between the accused and the court consisted merely of pro forma answers to pro forma questions; and
- (10) whether the accused's waiver resulted from either coercion or mistreatment.

State v. Cash, 309 S.C. 40, 43, 419 S.E.2d 811, 813 (Ct. App. 1992). While there may not be a separate standard for competency to stand trial and competency to represent oneself, the Cash factors make clear it is a consideration, and the trial court would not have abused its discretion, had its

exercise of discretion became necessary, to seek updated information on Chandler's competency. See generally United States v. Washington, 596 F.3d 926, 941 (8th Cir. 2010) (noting "the trial judge will often prove best able to make more fine-tuned mental capacity decisions" (quoting Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164 (2008))).

"Even if a request is unequivocal, timely, voluntary, knowing, and intelligent, a court may defer ruling if the court is reasonably unprepared to immediately respond to the request." State v. Madsen, 229 P.3d 714, 717 (Wash. 2010). "The trial court was within the bounds of proper discretion to delay ruling on the matter until it could properly prepare to rule on the issue." Id. at 718. "[A] court's discretionary decision to defer ruling on a motion to proceed pro se should be upheld if the deferral was based on tenable grounds and tenable reasons." Id. at 722; see also, Russell v. State, 383 N.E.2d 309, 314 (Ind. 1978) (noting "experience has shown that day of trial assertions of the self-representation right are likely to lead to a rushed procedure, increasing the chances that the case should be reversed because some vital interest of the defendant was not adequately protected.").

Chandler made his motion to represent himself only six days before trial, even though the case was nearly a year-and-a-half old. He was given the option of representing himself and having an additional three months to prepare for trial. Instead, he withdrew the motion after further discussion with his attorney. Because he withdrew his motion to represent himself and did not disagree with counsel's assertions that he was choosing to go to trial with his public defender continuing to represent him, Chandler waived his right to proceed pro se. He would not seek to represent himself again until after the State presented twelve witnesses at trial.

The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals addressed the differences between the waiver of a right to counsel and the waiver of the right to represent oneself, noting, “The important distinction in the manner in which the two rights come into play requires that a different waiver analysis be applied to the right of self-representation than to the right to counsel. Unlike the right to counsel, the right of self-representation can be waived by defendant’s mere failure to assert it.” Brown v. Wainwright, 665 F.2d 607, 610-11 (5th Cir. 1982). “Even if defendant requests to represent himself . . . the right may be waived through defendant’s subsequent conduct indicating he is vacillating on the issue or has abandoned his request altogether.” Id. at 611. The Fifth Circuit further surmised, “Since the right of self-representation is waived more easily than the right to counsel at the outset, before assertion, it is reasonable to conclude it is more easily waived at a later point, after assertion.” Id. Thus the Fifth Circuit concluded, “A waiver may be found if it reasonably appears to the court that defendant has abandoned his initial request to represent himself.” Id.

In that case, the Fifth Circuit found that the trial court’s finding of waiver was supported by counsel’s statement to the court that he and the defendant worked out their differences, and the observation that after the initial hearing, the defendant never informed the court of his continuing desire to conduct his own defense. The defendant only informed the trial court of the desire to represent himself on the third day of trial prior to closing arguments. Accordingly, the Fifth Circuit found the request was untimely. Id.; see also Hodge v. Henderson, 761 F.Supp. 993, 1003 (S.D.N.Y. 1990) (finding even if Hodge’s conduct could be construed as an assertion of the right to represent himself, Hodge did not persist in his desire to appear pro se and it was not reasserted unambiguously before Justice Fraiman at trial. Unlike the right to counsel, the right to self-representation can be

waived by failure to timely assert it, or by subsequent conduct giving the appearance of uncertainty.”).

The Federal District Court for Delaware, citing Wainwright, observed that “the right of self-representation may vanish if the defendant later vacillates or accepts the representation of counsel at trial.” Pitts v. Redman, 776 F.Supp. 907, 916 (D.Del. 1991). The Delaware district concluded, “On balance, the right to self-representation is fragile.” Id.

In the instant case, the trial court reasonably determined it would not be ready four days from trial to determine if Chandler should proceed pro se. Indeed, Chandler’s decision, despite the age of the case, was a recent one and the trial court might be concerned that Chandler’s sudden desire to represent himself was a fleeting sentiment. The trial court suggested speaking with counsel some more to see if they could work out their differences. They did, and the motion to proceed pro se became moot. Accordingly, the trial court did not err, particularly where Chandler vacillated. See also Swan v. Commonwealth, 384 S.W.3d 77, 94 (Ky. 2012) (finding no error where trial court refrained from rushing into a Faretta hearing and instead directed Swan to consult with his lawyer and think about his request, allowing Swan to reassert the request; since Swan did not raise the issue again, the issue was waived).

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